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SUMMARY

Harworth Estates is developing proposals for a @@wuntry Park at Little Hulton in
the Metropolitan Borough of Bolton, Greater MandbesFollowing a scheme of
archaeological assessment, it was concluded thaCdluntry Park development might
damage or destroy potential below-ground archaémdbgemains associated with a
recently demolished farmhouse, barn, and cartstadidéés at Hulton Heys (centred on
SD 6999 04142). Documentary evidence suggestshisasite might contain evidence
for a late medieval farmstead and an early postieratifarm, which is documented
in the seventeenth century. An earlier examinatibrthe recently demolished farm
buildings suggests that these represent thoseigslidiepicted on late eighteenth- and
nineteenth-century mapping.

Given the historical significance of Hulton Heysxf@d Archaeology North was
commissioned by Harworth Estates to undertake emaaological evaluation across
the site. The aims and objectives of the evaluatiere to determine the character and
significance of any below-ground remains, and dtsaetermine the need for any
additional archaeological excavation in order taigate the impact of the proposed
development. The work entailed the excavation oédhevaluation trenches. These
trenches were positioned across the recently deheli barn and cartshed/stables,
and immediately west of the recently demolishedhfasuse. The position and extent
of these trenches was conditioned by the presemcgreat crested newts and
Himalayan balsam.

The evaluation indicated that significant belowtgrd remains are present at this site.
These include a potential unmortared stone wallandarly pebble and clay surface.
These features appear to predate the buildingsctepion late eighteenth- and
nineteenth-century mapping and, given the knowtohiof the site, it is possible that
they relate to late medieval or early post-mediewality.

In addition to the potential early remains, the leadon also demonstrated the
survival of below-ground remains that representmelets of the farm’s barn and

cartshed/stables, which are depicted on ninetemsthiry and later mapping. These
remains include the brick footings of a probable-mineteenth-century wall, forming

the northern exterior wall of the cartshed/stabédesl later machine-made brick walls.
These latter walls appear to relate to rebuildingd aadditions to both the

cartshed/stables and barn during the later nindtemnearly twentieth century. The
evaluation also indicated that a well-preservednestgett surface, forming the
farmyard, lies between the farmhouse, barn, antlued/stables. This surface might
potentially date to the late eighteenth or ninetfeeentury.

Given the presence of potential early remains, @glaith below-ground remains
relating to later farm buildings, a further program of archaeological excavation is
recommended in order to mitigate the impact ofpgtaposed development. This will
probably entail a larger open-area excavationpatjh the scope and extent of further
archaeological investigation will need to be catait in accordance with an Updated
Written Scheme of Investigation, which should beiskd in consultation with the
Greater Manchester Archaeological Advisory Service.

For the use of: Harworth Estates © OA North October 2014
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1. INTRODUCTION

11

111

1.1.2

1.1.3

1.14

CIRCUMSTANCES OF THE PROJECT

Harworth Estates is developing proposals for a @wntry Park at Little
Hulton in the Metropolitan Borough of Bolton, GreatManchester. The
proposals allow for the change of land use of pha restored open-cast-coal-
mining site to form a Country Park, which will incle remodelled landform,
the creation of new ponds, watercourses and a mhabitats, together with
public access routes and visitors’ car-parking r{Rilag Application No
90552/13).

The application area has been the focus of sedesi-based studies since the
mid-1990s, which highlighted the archaeologicakiast of the areacf{ OA
North 2014). This was tested via intrusive archagiochl investigation by OA
North in advance of the development of a surfaceingi and tip reclamation
facility by UK Coal. In the first instance, this roprised evaluation trenching
that was carried out in 2005-06, which was follovigdtargeted excavation in
2006-08. The archaeological work yielded resultsregfional significance,
which included the remains of a prehistoric rounouge, evidence for
medieval iron smelting, elements of a late medievialor hall, and early post-
medieval farmsteads. However, the intrusive arclogemal investigations
carried out in 2005-08 did not examine a numbeexaant farms within the
boundary of the application area, which at thatedaere still occupied and
preserved from the open-cast scheme. Some of fagss became neglected
and have since been demolished, although ther@esal for buried remains
of archaeological interest to survive, as sevefahe farms are thought to
have been medieval or early post-medieval in origin

In view of the archaeological background to the,sihe Greater Manchester
Archaeological Advisory Service (GMAAS), which pides archaeological

advice to Bolton Metropolitan Borough Council, reaoended that a

condition was attached to the planning consent tfteg Country Park

development that allowed for a programme of arcloagoal works. As part

of this condition, it was recommended that the aedhogical works should

include archaeological investigation across thagenfiouse sites that were
excluded from the scheme of works carried out iD5208.

Initially, this investigation included a review tife 17 known farmhouse sites
within the application area. This review indicatibeat ten of these sites had
been destroyed by open-cast mining, and/or had kb&amined during the
2005-08 archaeological investigation, and theretbdenot merit any further
study. Of the remaining seven sites that occupyGbanty Park application
area, six represent extant historic farmhousestlademainder a farmhouse,
Hulton Heys, which has recently been demolishedotmdation level, and
none had been subjected to investigation during ehdier scheme of
archaeological work.

For the use of: Harworth Estates © OA North October 2014
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1.15

1.1.6

1.1.7

1.1.8

1.1.9

1.2

1.2.1

1.2.2

1.2.3

The seven sites were therefore subjected to anaeotbgical desk-based
assessment. This assessment enabled OA North thugaroan informed
Written Scheme of Investigation (WSI) outlining sigofarmhouse sites which
might be directly impacted on during the creatibthe new Country Park.

Assessment of the sites concluded that the exganthfouses sites would not
be subjected to any direct impacts as part of then@y Park development.
However, it concluded that the Country Park develept might damage or
destroy potential below-ground archaeological remaassociated with the
recently demolished farm buildings at Hulton Heys.

Given the potential impact on the archaeologicalai@s at Hulton Heys, and
based on its archaeological merits, the WSI recond®e that an intrusive
archaeological investigation should be completetthiatsite as an appropriate
form of mitigation, In the first instance, this wduwcomprise a programme of
targeted evaluation trenching.

The evaluation aimed to establish the presence bseree of buried
archaeological remains on the site and, if presemyacterise the level of
preservation and significance, and provide a goodetstanding of their
potential. It was intended that this informationukbthen be used to inform
any further recommendations for archaeologicalstigation.

Following formal approval of the WSI by GMAAS, OAdkh implemented
the required programme of evaluation trenching atoBer 2014. This report
presents the results of the evaluation at HultonysHand includes
recommendations for further archaeological invesioy.

SITE LOCATION AND GEOL OGY

The wider application area (centred on SD 6995 D##isituated immediately
south of Salford Road (A6) and north of the railwlaye running between
Manchester and Wigan (Plate 1). It is bounded ® west by a band of
housing, running north from Atherton, and to thetday Wharton Lane (Fig
1). The ground level within falls from north to sbhufromc 120-90m aOD.

The solid geology of the study area comprises teenie Coal Measures
Group of the Carboniferous, and a superficial gggplof Devensian glacial
till. Surface mining has been carried out exterlgiaeross the study area,
although a central zone remains unaffected, togetith smaller areas on the
western side of Wharton Lane.

Within this area, the site of Hulton Heys (SD 6@B842; Fig 1) is set within
a rectangular enclosure, which is linked to Backd.aia a short trackway.
Immediately north of the site is a small reserviwp ponds lie a short
distance to the north-west, whilst a well is présemrmediately to the south.
Prior to the archaeological evaluation, the foaiysriof the demolished farm
buildings were overlain by rubble.

For the use of: Harworth Estates © OA North October 2014
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1.2.4 This demolition debris included small-sized, hanadm bricks, together with
machine-made bricks from Gadbury Brickworks, sutjggsa date range
spanning the eighteenth to early twentieth cendur&tone-built foundations
were also visible in the position of the formerrband cartshed.

1.2.5 The site was subject to stringent ecological carsitions. In particular, the
site of the demolished farmhouse has been idett#gehaving high potential
as a habitat for great crested newts. As suchatbleaeological works were
subject to close monitoring by the appointed edstag ensure that the newts
were not harmed, or their habitat disturbed. Dutimg course of the works,
several great crested newts were identified, whigtluded the excavation of
the trenches to the full lengths proposed in thel.Wtaddition, Himalayan
balsam was present across parts of the study @&teeh presented a further
constraint to the archaeological works. Howeveffigant information was
recovered from the excavated trenches to fulfilsteged aims and objectives
of the project.

Plate 1: Aerial view across the study area

For the use of: Harworth Estates © OA North October 2014
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1.3
13.1

1.3.2

1.3.3

1.3.4

1.3.5

1.3.6

HiISTORICAL BACKGROUND

Introduction: the following section details the known historyHidlton Heys.
This section draws upon, and summarises, the ir#bom contained in the
recent desk-based assessment, and for a fullémieetof the wider historical
development of the study area, reference shouldnbde to that report
(Arrowsmith 2013).

Medieval: historically, Hulton Heys lay in the township ofiddile Hulton,
now in the Metropolitan Borough of Bolton, whichiginally formed one
element of the medieval manor of Hultap(cit 6). The place-name Hulton is
first documented inc 1200 as ‘Hilton’ (Ekwall 1922, 43). It has an Old
English derivation, suggesting that an Anglo-Sasgettlement may have been
present in this township. The distinguishing prefididdle’ is first
documented in the sixteenth century, by which titme original manor of
Hulton had long been divided into smaller paitv&dy.

Between 1195 and 1212 Hugh Putrell gave half aceaeuin Hulton to
Richard son of Elias de Worsley, the rent bein§dsThis grant would appear
to represent those parts of the manor of Hultonichvhater became the
townships of Middle and Little Hulton (Farrer andoBnbill 1911a, 376-7;
1911b, 26). The de Worsley family held their shafédulton until the early
fifteenth century, after which they passed by nageito the de Masseys.

There is documentary evidence that the de Wordheyk a hall in Hulton,

although the location of this is unknown (Arrowsm013, 6). There is also
documentary evidence dating to 1296 for a mill mitbih, at which the local

tenants of the de Worsleys would have been obligadke their corn and pay
for it to be ground. Again the location of thisesis not knownibid).

Significantly, Hulton Heys may have contained a reeal farm, and therefore
represents a comparatively early settlement withexmanor of Hulton. The
documentary evidence for this includes two grartaro enclosed parcel of
land named Hulton Hey made in 1467 and 1484 byiakllde Massy and
Geoffrey de Massy respectively. The 1484 grant gaeeleases the right to
build and marl on the ground, while de Massy uraétto maintain hedges
and ditches (Farrer and Brownbill 1911b, 30). Thference to the right to
build suggests that there may have been a farmataaé site of Hulton Heys
by the late fifteenth century.

Post-medieval and Industrial: from the post-medieval period onwards the
documentary and cartographic evidence becomes deiegled. This allows
greater insights into the landscape in which Hultays was set. The general
pattern that emerges is that the wider area cadam scattering of small
farmsteads during this period. By the early eightieecentury part of the
township was owned by the Duke of Bridgewater, sthihe remaining
portion was owned by Thomas Arden Bagmt €it, 7). There is also evidence
that some tenants income from farming may have lsegplemented on a
regular basis by involvement in cottage industri&rencipal among these was
probably textile manufacture, which appears to Hasen an important source
of income from the late sixteenth century onwaad$.gnn 1953).

For the use of: Harworth Estates © OA North October 2014
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1.3.7 Coal mining was also important across the widema drem at least the
sixteenth century, and in the eighteenth centuryoBéeases reserved mining
rights (GMAU 1991, 8). By the mid-nineteenth cegtu©Ordnance Survey
mapping shows numerous coal pits across the lapdsasech as those at Bank
House Colliery and Wharton Colliery.

1.3.8 With regard to Hulton Heys, various details can djeaned from the
documentary and cartographic sources. The documyeatadence indicates
that this farm may have been the tenement of Joathéd listed in the 1674
marriage settlement of William Egertocf Arrowsmith 2013, 16). It was also
documented in 1734, when it was leased by EgeragoBto Margaret Mather
of Middle Hulton, widow ipid). In 1792, the Reverend Walter Bagot leased
the property to Thomas Eckersley of Middle Hultfor,ten yearsibid).

1.3.9 In terms of cartographic evidence, a farmhouse bawh are depicted at
Hulton Heys on & 1772 Bagot Estate plan, and these are also plotigtie
1849 Ordnance Survey (OS) map (Plate 2). An undatétinineteenth-
century plan (MA L5/4/1/1-2) indicates by the tirakthis survey a cartshed
and stables had also been erected, which direcljgired the barn. The
survey book accompanying this plan lists the faeadtas comprising ‘House,
Cottage, Outbuildings, Yard, Garden & Road’, leaggdWilliam Newton
(ibid). Census returns show two households at the far@841-81, at which
period the farmhouse appears to have comprisedira mase and a cottage
(Table 1). The farm complex is shown fully develdpen the OS maps of
1893 (Plate 3).

Plate 2: Hulton Heys as depicted on the 1849 OSiite map (Lancashire sheet 94)

For the use of: Harworth Estates © OA North October 2014
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Plate 3: Hulton Heys as depicted on the 1893 OSR#&ile map

D

Y ear Farmhouse Head Occupation
1841 Hilton Heyes William Lomax Farmer
John Lomax
William Higson Farmer
1851 Hilton Heyes Margaret Lomax Farmer of 42 acreg
1861 Hilton Heyes William Newton Farmer of 23 acres
Joseph Heathcoat Coal miner
1871 Hulton Heys Ralph Worthington Farmer of 24 acreg
Hulton Heys Farm William Newton Farmer of 49 acres
1881 Hilton Heys Cottage Unoccupied
Hulton Heys Farm John Latham Farmer of 22 acres
1891 Hulton Heyes Farm James Lomax Farmer
1901 Hulton Heys Farm Charles Hopwood Farmer

Table 1: Occupants of Hulton Heys in Census Retafri8841-1901

For the use of: Harworth Estates
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1.3.10 The farmhouse, barn, and cartshed were extant veténtly and were
described in 1991c{ Arrowsmith 2013, 16). The farmhouse, on the em s
of the yard, was two-storeyed with ridge and gatilenneys, and with an
outshut of one and two storeys to the rear. Thetfebevation was rendered,
but other parts displayed early brickwork. This waémost certainly the house
depicted on the 1772 Bagot estate plan, complete with rear outshié
barn, which is recognisable in plan on late eighti@eand nineteenth-century
mapping was aligned north/south on the west sidhefyard. It was brick-
built and had four bays with a cart door and opdas®mnowing door in bay 2;
bay 3 was a rebuild; bay 4, which included honeydmckwork, appeared to
be an addition to the original structure. At rigimgles to bay 1, on the south
side of the yard, was a brick-built cartshed aadblsts.

For the use of: Harworth Estates © OA North October 2014
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2. METHODOLOGY

21

211

2.1.2

2.1.3

22

221

EVALUATION

All work was carried out in accordance with the WSIA North 2014), and
was consistent with the relevant standards andepoes provided by the
Institute for Archaeologists (IfA), and generallgcapted best practice. The
evaluation comprised the excavation of three treshches (Trenches 1-3; Fig
2), which targeted the demolished footprints of blaen and cartshed/stables,
and also an area immediately west of the farmholibe. trenches were
excavated by mechanical excavator and, where pesgkee beloy all
archaeological deposits were cleaned manually fimal¢heir extent, nature,
form and, where possible, date.

Following cleaning, all deposits, structures anditdes were recorded
stratigraphically, using a system adapted from tsed by the Centre for
Archaeology Service of English Heritage. Resultstlod evaluation were
recorded orpro-formacontext sheets, and a pictorial record (plans,isest
and digital photography) was also generated inraimédentify and illustrate
individual features.

During the course of the evaluation, Trench 1 latteé abandoned after the
excavation of the first 6m due to the presencerefigcrested newts. Trench 2
also had to be shortened from its original propdsadth due to the discovery
of Himalayan balsam at its northern end. In additib was only possible to

partially clean this trench due to the presencgreat crested newts. Similarly,
due to the presence of great crested newts, thegmosf Trench 3 had to be

moved further westwards. This meant that this tndag immediately adjacent

to a mound of rubble which covered the site offétenhouse.

ARCHIVE

A full archive of the work has been prepared torafgssional standard in
accordance with current English Heritage guideli(2896) and th&uidelines
for the Preparation of Excavation Archives for Lomgrm StoraggUKIC
1990). The archive will be deposited with Bolton $um on completion of
the project. In addition, a copy of the report viié forwarded to the Greater
Manchester Historic Environment Record (HER).

For the use of: Harworth Estates © OA North October 2014
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3. RESULTS

3.1
3.3.1

3.2
3.2.1

3.2.2

INTRODUCTION

Three evaluation trenches were excavated at tbeosiHulton Heys Farm,
Cutacre (Fig 2). Two large mounds of demolitionbigbay at the western and
south-western sides of the site, whilst a resemas present in the vegetation
to the north. These features surrounded a cobldetiybrd. The western
mound covered the site of a former barn and stedofished, whilst the south-
west mound covered the site of the farmhouse.

TRENCH 1

This trench measured 6 x 2m, was oriented east/wndtwas excavated to a
maximum depth of 0.80m. It lay at the northern edfjthe western mound of
rubble, which covered the site of the demolisheth kend cartshed/ stable
(Figs 2 and 3).

At the southern edge of the trench a machine-maid& tvall (101) bonded
with white mortar, was evident (Plate 4), which lpably dates to the late
nineteenth or early twentieth century. This wall swaligned east/west,
extending for a distance of 3.8m, with a southesgtyrn at its eastern end.

Plate 4: Trench 6 general view, wal1 on left, looking south-west

3.2.3 The position of walll01 indicates that it represents the northern walthef

former barn. Moreover, its location indicates tihdrmed the exterior wall of
a later addition to the original late eighteenthtoey barn, which was noted
when the extant building was described in 1991 &eection 1.3.10 At the
western end of the wall was a stone blat®3( Plate 5).

For the use of: Harworth Estates © OA North October 2014
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3.2.4 This possibly formed part of a wall foundation oasvperhaps a threshold,

3.2.5

3.3
3.3.1

3.3.2

3.3.3

denoting the position of a doorway at the end efldier addition to the barn.
To the south of these features was a concrete fodace 102), which was
positioned within the interior of the later additito the barn.

I

Plate 5: Stone block03, looking south

Outside of the footprint of the barn, three easstvatigned drains were
present which had been cut into the natural bouttkey (107). The central
drain (L05) comprised a ceramic pipe, whilst two linear c{it@4 and 106),
filled with stone and brick fragments, marked thasipon of the other two
adjacent drains.

TRENCH 2

This trench measured 12 x 2m and was excavatedn@amum depth of
0.12m. The trench lay at the eastern side of thsteme mound of rubble,
which covered the demolished barn and stable Figsd 2).

The earliest remains encountered in this trencludiedl a metalled surface and
a stone wall. The metalled surfac0g; Plate 6) consisted of very compact
small pebbles of varying sizes, set into a layerclafy, and it may well
represent an early floor or yard surface. It was/ veughly made and lay
partially below a later cobbled yard surface thaswwositioned to the north of
the cartshed/stables.

The wall @05; Plate 7) was 0.87m wide and was orientated rewtih. It
comprised a stone-core foundation with no appanmemtar. Its composition
and relationship to other features in the trengysat that it might represent a
comparatively early feature.

For the use of: Harworth Estates © OA North October 2014
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3.3.4 A later feature encountered in this trench wagsetdt of brick walling 203;
Plate 8). The fabric of the wall comprised hand-enddicks, bonded with
white lime mortar, and was one header- and onéch&ecourse wide. It had
been cut into natural boulder cla307), and appeared to be the foundation for
the northern wall of the cartshed/stables. As stiggrobably dates to mid-
nineteenth centurySection 1.3.p

L - - Kl cy

Plate 7: Stone wal05 (right) with brick structure204 (left), looking north

For the use of: Harworth Estates © OA North October 2014
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3.35

3.3.6

34
34.1

3.4.2

Plate 8: Hand-made brick, wal03, looking west

Later features and structures appear to have iedlwd roughly built drain
(202) composed of large sandstone blocks that ran si¢hes centre of this
trench. This drain was orientated north-east/sedbt and it partially cut
through the earlier metalled surfa@dg) and the also the stretch of handmade
brick walling @03).

Other remains present in this trench included tivéhreastern end of a 1.66m-
wide brick structure204), which ran from the south-western edge of Treach
(Plate 7). It was defined by a single-course widechme-made brick wall,

with internal stone flagging, and given its compiosi may date to the late
nineteenth or twentieth century. A single stonegfl@so lay outside the
structure to the north-east.

TRENCH 3

This trench measured 15m by 2m and was excavatachtaximum depth of
0.18m. It lay on the western side of the moundubibte that covered the site
of the farmhouse (Figs 2 and 3). Unfortunatelgoitild not be excavated into
this rubble mound due to the presence of greatetteswwts $ection 2.1.8

The earliest remains encountered in this trencludec a patch of rough small
pebbles that had been set into a layer of cB@g;(Plate 9). This surface was
similar to that encountered in Trench20g; Section 3.3.2and was probably
contemporaneous.

For the use of: Harworth Estates © OA North October 2014
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Plate 9: Cobbled surface202, 303 and 304, with flags to left, looking south-west

3.4.3 Later features were encountered across the mainh gfathe trench and
included a cobbled yard surface (Plates 9 and T surface contained a
north-east/south-west-aligned drainage run compos$éarge, 0.23 x 0.21m,
stone sets. At the south-western end of the draimag was a cast-iron grid
(306). To the east and south of the drainage run wasrface of large stone
sets B05), whilst to the west was a surface of smaller ¢ebl304). These
also extended to the north 805 in a 0.68m-wide line boarded by larger
narrow cobbles. To the east of this line of smalbldes was a surface of
moderately sized cobble303) with stone flagging to the east, visible within a
small extension to the trench edge. At the north @frthe trench, the surfaces
had been destroyed by an area of later disturb@odse

3.4.4 To the south of cobbled surfaB85 was a right-angled stretch of machine-
made brick wall 807), bondedwith hard dark cement (Plate 11). This was
two-stretcher-courses wide and ran north from tbatlern trench edge,
before turning to the west. This wall aligned witlall 203 in Trench 2
(Section 3.3.Band it is possible that it represents a lateuvitdof the eastern
end of the stables/cartshed. To the west of thikimthe building, was a floor
surface 808) composed of large sets.
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Plate 11: Brick wall307 with set surfac808 in background, looking north-west
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4. DISCUSSION

4.1

41.1

4.1.2

4.2

42.1

4.2.2

SIGNIFICANCE

Although the evaluation at Hulton Heys encountesenhe difficulties due to
the presence of great crested newts and Himalayalsarh, it still
demonstrated that this site contains well-preseteddw-ground remains of
archaeological significance. Importantly, severstfires were encountered
which may well predate the establishment of thas&limgs depicted on late
eighteenth- and nineteenth-century mapping. Thesdude a potential
unmortared stone wall in Trench 2, and an earlybjeeland clay surface,
which was identified in Trenches 2 and 3. Althoubhkse features were not
associated with any dateable remains, given thevikritastory of the site, it is
possible that they may relate to late medievabolygost-medieval activity.

Aside from these potentially early remains, thel@aton also indicated that
below-ground remains are present which form elemehthe farm’s barn and
cartshed/stables, which are depicted on ninetematitury and later mapping.
These remains include the hand-made brick footiofysa probable mid-

nineteenth-century wall, in Trench 2, forming thethern exterior wall of the

cartshed/stables and later machine-made brick wallall three of the

evaluation trenches. These latter walls appearetate to rebuilding and
additions to both the cartshed/stables and barmgluhe later nineteenth or
twentieth century. In addition, the evaluation caded that a well-preserved
farmyard surface is present that lies between #renlHouse, barn, and
cartshed/stables. This surface might date to tteedaghteenth or nineteenth
century.

RECOMMENDATIONS

Given the presence of potential early remains, @atd with a site that was
seemingly occupied during the late medieval ant garst-medieval periods,
along with below-ground remains relating to latarni buildings, a further
programme of archaeological excavation is recomménd order to mitigate
the impact of the proposed development.

This might involve a larger open-area excavatiaossthe site. However, any
such work would be dependent on the environmergatiitions at the site,

given the known presence of great crested newty. fArther programme of

archaeological investigation will need to be catroait in accordance with an
Updated WSI, which should be devised in consultatwth GMAAS.
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